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1856. Five years later a factory was built in Bystřice 
pod Hostýnem near Přerov, followed by factories in 
Halenkov in 1867 and Vsetín in 1871, with other 
plants in Nagyugróc in Hungary, Radomsko in 
Poland, Frankenberg in Germany and subsequently 
in other parts of the world. By 1900 there were 6,000 
Thonet employees producing 4,000 pieces of 
furniture a day. 
 
Thonet rationalised the production by constructing 
each furniture product in individual elements that 
could be made separately on a production line 
manned by specially trained workers, rather than 
employing highly skilled furniture craftsmen to 
fashion the whole piece one at a time. The final 
pieces of furniture were assembled by simply 
screwing the components together, rather than using 
complex junctions, which at that time required fixing 
by using glued-peg jointing. The other advantage of 
using screws was that the connections could be easily 
retightened as required during the chair’s use, thus 
prolonging the life of the product. A highly 
innovative production process was established, with 
each stage of manufacture being taken up separately, 
but in sequence, then all coming together at the end 
of the line, a method of mass manufacture still in use 
successfully in many other industries to the present 
time. 
 
Some designs such as the Chair no. 14, invented in 
1859, with its simple elegant bentwood double rod 
backrest first made in Koryčany, were sent out 
unassembled in one-cubic-metre packs which 
contained simple component parts for 36 units. Once 
delivered, these parts could be easily put together on 
site. By the early 1860s Thonet paved the way for 
massive furniture production of products sent all 
over the world. Some sources claim that by 1930 
over 50 million Thonet chairs had been sold, with 
18,000 chairs made daily. The No. 14 then cost only 
8.50 Deutschmarks each, making it one of the most 
successful products in the history of industrial mass 
production. 
 
Michael Thonet died in 1871 in Vienna but his five 
sons carried on successfully with the enterprise and 
kept introducing further innovations such as using 
the cheaper ply seats, later decorated by pressed or 
flame-branded patterns instead of the wicker cane 
work. Leading architects Adolf Loos, Le Corbusier 
and others admired Thonet products because of their 
simple, elegant, functional forms perfectly fitting in 
to the modern interiors of the architects' building 
designs. Adolf Loos said ,“When I was in America, I 
realised that the Thonet chair was the most modern 
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Thonet Bentwood Furniture and the 
Iconic Chair No. 14 from Moravia  
by Ivan Margolius  

 
Michael Thonet, a cabinet maker, was born in 1796 
in Boppard, Rheinland, Germany, setting up his 
furniture workshop there in 1819. He began 
experiments with bending wood to make chairs in 
the late 1830s and early 1840s, trying to shape 
laminated wood veneer strips bundles by having the 
wood cut into laths which were then soaked in vats 
of hot glue to make them flexible. He then clamped 
the strips into iron formwork, pressing the bundles 
into permanent curves. These bent laminations were 
fitted, lapped and pinned together to form the final 
shapes required. Thonet first exhibited his designs in 
1841 at a trade fair in Koblenz where he met Prince 
Metternich. The Prince invited him to move to 
Vienna, which Thonet did the following year, and 
granted him an Austrian patent for his invention. On 
16th June 1842 Thonet became the owner of the 
Imperial and Royal privilege Z.28.877/1.158 "to 
bend every kind of wood, even the most refractory, 
by any chemico-mechanical means into any form or 
curve".  
 
After moving to Vienna, Thonet furnished the Palais 
Liechtenstein, Palais Schwarzenberg and the Café 
Daum. In 1849 Thonet Söhne was established with a 
workshop in Vienna and four years later the firm was 
renamed Gebrüder Thonet when Michael transferred 
the business to his five sons: Michael Jr., Josef, 
August, Franz and Jacob. August Thonet (1829-
1910) being the most artistically and technically gifted 
contributed many designs as well as improving 
production techniques. Two years later Thonet made 
a breakthrough through having light, strong beech 
wood bent into curved forms by shaping the solid, 
turned beech wood rods through a hot steam 
treatment, instead of using the laminated strips and 
the hot glue baths. Then he introduced his so-called 
Viennese bentwood chairs at the 1851 Great 
Exhibition in London, held at the Crystal Palace, for 
which he received a bronze medal. Four years later 
he gained a silver medal at the Paris Exposition 
Universelle and, again in Paris in 1867 a gold medal for 
the most famous chair of all times, the number 14. 
With many orders coming in, the Viennese workshop 
could not cope with large-scale production. In order 
to continue supply, Thonet established factories 
conveniently close to the source of the plentiful 
material needed for the production - the beech 
forests. The first factory and his own villa were built 
in Koryčany, near Uherské Hradiště in Moravia in 
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Třeboň - Cinderella 
or the Sleeping Beauty? 
by Jan Mladovský  

 
You enter the historic town of patrician houses 
joined by arcades around the main square through 
one of the three city gates. It is dominated by the 
large Renaissance château, the adjacent monastery, 
the Gothic church and the cloisters with medieval 
frescoes. There is a large English park with a 
promenade leading to a chapel containing the 
embalmed remains of 26 members of the local 
ruling dynasty, the Schwarzenbergs. The 
promenade runs along the lake Svět (World). Other 
lakes bear equally poetic names such as Love, Faith, 
Hope, Good Will, Pleasure, Deed, etc., but the real 
magic lies in the relationship between the town and 
the surrounding countryside, which gradually 
evolved over the centuries. Initially, the whole 
region was marshland, so settling it involved 
draining the land, making hundreds of artificial 
lakes by building an extensive system of dykes and 
canals, and creating a new, man-made landscape.  
Over time nature has blended the man-made 
features into countryside of unique, protected flora 
and fauna with the old town at its core. It is called 
the Třeboň Region. 
 

Several times Tr  eboň experienced a cultural 
flowering that reflected contacts with many parts of 
Europe. The best known period, the 14th century, is 
represented by the famous Retable of the Master of 

Tr  eboň and the Madonna of Tr  eboň, see page 10, 
regarded as the high point of the International 
Gothic or Beautiful Style. In the 16th century the 
last of the Rožmberks, the powerful rulers of South 
Bohemia, built a world class art collection, library 
and archive, and funded the hydro-engineering 
projects that made extensive fish farming possible. 
Vilém of Rožmberk, the chief diplomat of 
Emperor Rudolf II in Prague, was a candidate for 
the Polish throne. 
 
Třeboň opened its gates to the world. Among 
others, the English Renaissance occultist Edward 
Kelly and the alchemist John Dee took up 
residence there. The art collection was later 
dispersed but the archive containing illuminated 
manuscripts, maps and documents survived. In the 
18th century the Augustinian monastery installed a 
magnificent organ in the church of St. Giles with a 
large collection of mainly hand-written music. It 
kept an orchestra and supported music-making, 
attracting interest from far and wide. 

 
Beside its historic heritage Třeboň is well known as 
a spa town and as an outdoor activity destination, 
especially for swimming and cycling. These assets 
lend Třeboň its unique character. The town seems 
prosperous, money has been invested, façades 
repaired, but recent developments have also had 
some negative effects. The historic quarter is no 
longer the natural heart of the town. The shops and 
local residents have moved to the suburbs and have 
been replaced by services for holidaymakers. Out 
of season it feels deserted and melancholic, like 
Cinderella or the Sleeping Beauty who hasn’t yet 
fully woken up. The surrounding countryside has 
also suffered. According to the scientists of the 
Prague Charles University the intensive fish 
farming in Třeboň relies too much on growing 
ever-larger volumes of relatively low-market-price 
fish such as carp. To avoid an ecological disaster in 
the Třeboň Region they call for sustainable fish 
farming. Maintaining the magical connection 
between the countryside and the old town with its 
assets requires awareness of ecology as an 
inseparable part of wider cultural horizons. 

The non-profit organisation WERHERE z.s. 
(www.whyrwehere.info) has been trying to reverse 
the trend by the soft power of art. WERHERE z.s. 

has been promoting contemporary art in Tr  eboň by 
organising a programme of exhibitions and 
accompanying events pointing out historical links 

to Tr  eboň’s art and culture, e.g. a large international 
exhibition, the Rekurze 1.618, which included the 
Turner Prize winner Laure Prouvost. In 2017 
WERHERE z.s. signed an agreement with the 
NPÚ (the Czech National Heritage Institute) to 
locate an arts centre in the Château of Třeboň, 
which currently houses its contemporary art 
collection. In 2018 WERHERE z.s. teamed up 
with Australian benefactors Frank and Winnie May, 
the Australian musicologist Dr. Janice B. Stockigt 

 
The  Renaissance Château of  Třeboň 

http://www.whyrwehere.info/
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seating available”. The chairs were light, practical as 
well as comfortable without extensive upholstery.  
 
Le Corbusier used Thonet chairs (Nos. 18 and 209) 
in his 1925 Pavillon de l’Esprit Nouveau put up at the 
Exposition des Arts Décoratifs in Paris. He explained 
his choice: “We have introduced the humble 
Thonet chair of steamed wood, certainly the most 
common as well as the least costly of chairs. And 
we believe that this chair, whose millions of 
representatives are used on the Continent and in 
the two Americas, possess nobility”. Eight of the 
sixteen leading architects invited to build their 
Modernist designs at the Weissenhofsiedlung in 
Stuttgart in 1927 also chose Thonet chairs as no 
other pieces of furniture fitted so well with their 
avant-garde building interiors.  
 
After the First World War in 1922 the company 
joined up with Kohn-Mundus (Jacob & Josef Kohn 
and Mundus AG) and was renamed Thonet-
Mundus. In the late 1920s the company began also 
the manufacture of tubular-steel furniture. After 
the Second World War the company’s factories in 
Czechoslovakia were nationalised and in 1953 
renamed TON (Továrny ohýbaného nábytku), 
eventually with all the production based in Bystřice 
pod Hostýnem. The factory in Koryčany became 
independent in 1953 and was taken over by Koryna 
a.s. in 1993. From 2011 it has been under the 
ownership of L. A. Bernkop company. There are 
also two other independent Thonet companies - 
Thonet GmbH in Frankenberg/Eder in Germany 
and Gebrüder Thonet Vienna GmbH in Austria. 
The proof that Thonet products are of lasting 
design is confirmed by the fact that the same chair, 
first made in the nineteenth century, is still  popular 
and widely available today. 
Ivan Margolius is an architect and writer. 
 

The Villa Thonet at Koryčany, photograph below, was once 
the home of Michael Thonet and stands alongside the site of 
the furniture factory. It is now empty and the local council is 
endeavouring to secure its future. The Friends would like to 
support this venture  

Mozart, Leopold Hoffmann, Leopold Koželuch, 
and Georg Christoph Wagenseil. The Romantic 
period includes music composed by Luigi 
Cherubini, Karl Maria von Weber, Franz Schubert, 
Franz Liszt, and later also Zdeněk Fibich and 
Antonín Dvořák. These are just a few examples 
mentioned by Dr. J. Stockigt. 

What makes this archive unique is that the Church 

of St. Giles in Tr  eboň still holds its collection, 
whereas most other music libraries were broken up 
and displaced during and after World War II, losing 
the valuable context for ever. The library also 
includes anonymous composers because it was 
common practice to copy music without crediting 
the author in order to avoid paying royalties. Could 
the Třeboň collection hide some yet-undiscovered 
masterpieces? It could be a potential goldmine for 
musicologists. 

Because in 17th and 18th centuries the Czech lands 
were part of the transit route by which the southern, 
mainly Italian cultural influences were reaching the 
European North, the Pantoček’s organ, like many 
other Czech organs, had a distinct character. Since 
these instruments were not very well suited to 
playing the music written in the great German 
tradition, which gradually became the requirement 
of the time, most were later modified and lost their 
original sound. Frank May’s research unearthed the 
original contract for the Třeboň organ dated 1736, 
which contained technical specifications including 
all the stops and pipes. This information shows that 
the restoration of the instrument to its original state 
is possible and desirable. A renovation project of 
the Church of St Giles and the cloister is currently 
underway. Resources from the EU and Czech 
Government have been allocated to support the 
project, including the restoration of the organ and 
the housing of the music collection. If sufficient 
funding and professionalism were to be applied, the 
organ could become a superb concert instrument 
with a unique sound. Its historic value would be 
greatly enhanced by the music collection joined to it 
for centuries and its fame could spread around the 
world. Public funds are needed to see the Czech 
character of the organ properly restored and 
maintained. All proceeds from the benefit concert in 
2018 were donated to support this cause. 

 
Jan Mladovský is an artist living in London. He is one of 
the founders of the WHYRWEHERE. z.s. 
The Friends of Czech Heritage are considering plans 
for working holidays in Třebon and for supporting the 
restoration of the organ mentioned in the article 

 

 

of Melbourne University and the Prague music 
impresario Robert Hugo with his Capella Regia. 
They staged a benefit concert to promote the 
restoration of the important Baroque organ. 
Preparatory research confirmed that the history of 
the instrument is linked to the extensive music 
collection, now stored in the church tower. In the 
1970s a UNESCO project saw the cataloguing of 
this music library. There were 1,231 items of music 
listed in the typewritten catalogue completed on 
13th September 1974. The benefit concert 
performed pieces from this library to the 
enthusiastic audience. This is not the only case of 
Treboň’s relationship with UNESCO. More 
recently Třeboň has been considering whether or 
not to support the pending UNESCO registration 
of the Třeboň Region, including the town, as a 
world heritage site.  

In 1723 Tr  eboň suffered a great fire. As part of 
reconstruction a new organ was ordered for the 
Church of St. Giles and built in 1737 by the 
outstanding organ builder, Václav Pantoček of 
Dačice (1684-1746), possibly using some 
components from the previous Renaissance 
instrument. In order to play music churches also 

needed music collections. The remarkable Tr  eboň 
example of such a collection consists of those parts 
of the archive that survived the fire and of later 
additions to the archive. Local musicians would 
have been fine performers. In the 18th century 
Bohemia had a high reputation for producing great 
musicians. In 1772 the English musicologist 
Charles Burney travelled the country and wrote: “I 
crossed the whole kingdom of Bohemia, from south to north; 
and being very assiduous in my enquiries how the common 
people learned music, I found out at length, that, not only in 
every large town, but in all villages where there is a reading 
and writing school, children are taught music. (Dr. J. 
Stockigt). Composers whose music was heard in 
Třeboň came from all over Europe. The earliest 
compositions were from the Renaissance: a motet 
by Palestrina and a version of the Miserere by 
Gregorio Allegri. Music of the late Baroque era is 
represented by German composers such as Johann 
Caspar Ferdinand Fischer and by members of the 
Bach family such as Johann Sebastian Bach’s son, 
Johann Christian. Austrian composers include Carl 
Ditters von Dittersdorf, Italians such as Giovanni-
Battista Pergolesi, Giuseppe de Majo and Gennaro 
Manna and a host of Czech composers such as 
Florian Leopold Gassmann, František Xaver Brixi, 
Jan Křtitel Vaňhal, Jakub Jan Ryba and Paul 
Vranitzky. The Classical period is represented by 
Michael and Joseph Haydn, Wolfgang Amadeus 


